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EARLY ORGANIZATION

A well-known philosopher once defined science as organized
knowledge, and a famous lord chancellor in England said that
knowledge was power. In the spirit of these sentiments, and
motivated by the impelling desire to make Nova Scotia great,
the founders of the Nova Scotian Institute of Science Inau-
gurated this society in 1862. Today this Institute, which is
one of the oldest learned societies in Canada, celebrates its
centenary.

Nevertheless, the founders of the Nova Scotian Institute
of Seience were not the first Nova Seotians to be imbued with
an urge to make this provinee great by means of an association
of this nature. There had been previous efforts, some barren,
others relatively fruitful in their results, but none achioving
a century of sustained and beneficent activity.

Attempts to investigate and exploit the coal fields of this
region had ushered in a period that was favourable to the ap-
plication of science to mining. This became particularly
evident after the founding of Sydney, when a mineralogist
named James Miller, who was a friend of Edmund Burke, was
sent out to examine the coal mines and to report upon them.
Miiler received this appointment in 1793, four years after the
founding of our first college—King's—in 1789.
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At that time there was no provision at King’s College for
training in science, but the need for it was recognized. On
November 26, 1792, Bishop Charles Inglis had expressed it in
these words: “‘...The want of a professor of Mathematics
and Natural Philosophy is sensibly felt. ..”! He reiterated
it to Lord Grenville on June 28, 1793, as follows: “...Among
the students are several very ingenious young men; but their
improvement is much checked for want of Professors; especially
a Professor of Mathematies and Natural Philosophy . ."?

1t was hoped that Miller would fill this need, and The
Weekly Chronicle and The Royal Gazette, two Halifax newspapers,
greeted this anticipation in the spring of 1794 with these words:

. . .Jt must afford pleasure to the friends of Literature in
this rising Colony, to be informed, that the College or
edifice for this Excellent Institution is now in such for-
wardness, that it will probably be finished so far, before
winter, as to admit the Students. It is also a pleasing
circumstance that JAMES MILLER, Esq., the Gentle-
man who is to be Professor of Mathematics and Nalural
Philosophy in the College at Windsor, is arrived. The
superintendance of Royal Mines in these parts, is com-
mitted to this Gentleman, who is eminently skilled in
Mineralogy as Chemistry {szc]. This business, we under-
stand, will carry him to Cape Breton for some time; but
it is expected that he will return in autumn., By that
time a Philosophical Apparatus, which the Governors of
the College have sent for to England, will probably arrive;
and then he can enter on his department at the College
with more benefit to the students.?

But this expectation was not realized. It took time to
complete a charter for King’s College, and pending its pre-
paration there was no professorship for Miller. Consequently
he devoted himself to the coal mines and the other mineral
resources of the region until his death in 1799.

Within a few years of Miller's death, Titus Smith, a
pioneer naturalist who was known as the Dutch Village Philoso-
pher, made a survey of the unsettled areas of the province.
His report, which was prepared for the Government, contains
an account of the soil, the trees, and other resources.
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Meantime certain significant developments had been
initiated in edueation and a number of reading rooms and
libraries were soon established. Although a system of free
schools supported by compulsory assessment was not to be
provided until 1864-1865, the Province encouraged eduecation
by means of a number of statutes. Common schools inereased
in number; the secondary schools established at Windsor and
Halifax in the late 1780’s continued in operation; and after
the Grammar School Act was passed in 1811 a number of gram-
mar schools were set up in other counties. Rev. Thomas
MeCulloch, who was to be an advocate of educational freedom
and a pioneer in scientific instruetion, not only organized a
grammer school at Pictou, but became the founder and first
principal of Pictou Academy and the first Principal of Dal-
housie College. The Windsor Reaaing Society had its origin
in 1792;4 circulating libraries were in operation at Halifax
as early as 1806; and a network of public libraries, whose use
was restricted to subseribers, was established, one at Truro by
1812, another at Halifax in 1823-1824, and others at various
places during the interval or in later years.®

Although there was still no provision for scientific training,
Haligonians got an amusing glimpse of chemistry in the sum-
mer of 1825 when a man named Wyman delivered several in-
troductory lectures at the KExchange Coffee House.® His
subjects were atmospheric air and combustion, illustrated by
experiments, including the exploding of balloons filled with a
mixture of hydrogen and oxygen, and the making of laughing
gas, which as The Acadian Recorder put it ‘“produced most
uncommon effects on the organs of risibility in some sub-
jects. . ."" These lectures, delivered leisurely, and illustrated
with experiment, were attended by large audiences, who found
them useful and interesting.

In the autumn of the same year another attempt was made
to put King’s College on a better financial footing, It now had
a charter under whose terms no one who did not subsecribe to
the Thirty-Nine Articles could qualify for a degree. Arrange-
ments were made not only to appoint a Professor of Mathe-
maties and Natural Philosophy but also to purchase a philoso-
phical apparatus.” Pierece Morton, who had been senior
Wrangler at Cambridge, was the new Professor, but he did
not stay long. One day the next spring he wrote a letter home
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and hastened to the wharf at Windsor in order to put it aboard
the packet. The ship had already left and was a short distance
down the river. Professor Morton got into a boat and went
after her; he did not cateh up with the packet until she reached
Hantsport. Then he got on board the ship himself, and soon
found himself at Saint John, from where he continued on to
England.® Home-sickness, the whim of the moment or a
desire to escape from King's College or the Windsor area
brought about Professor Morton’s departure and laft the
College without a Professor of Mathematics and Natural
Philosophy.

The presence of another Englishman in Nova Seotia about
the same time prompted a proposal for the formation of a
Geological Society. This occurred at a time of renewed inter-
est in the mineral resources of the Province, for Messrs. Run-
dell, Bridge and Rundell, London jewellers and goldsmiths,
were about to obtain a sub-lease of the Duke of York’s mineral
rights in Nova Scotia, as well as a lease of certain mining rights
in Cape Breton, the General Mining Association was soon to
be formed, and a group of Nova Scotians were about to begin
iron mining in Annapolis County. Joseph Backwell, a minera-
logist, reached Halifax on August 18, 1825,° for the purpose
of investigating the mineral resonrees of the Province. A few
months later, the editor of the Halifax Free Press wrote: ‘*“We
have for a long time felt a hope, that a Geological Society would
be formed in Halifax; but the greatest difficulty which has
hitherto existed, as respects such an Institution, was founded in
the want of an individual possessing a practical knowledge of
that science. This difficulty no longer exists; — there is a
gentleman at present in this Province engaged in scientific
pursuits, who is perfectly willing to lend his aid to the formation
of such a Society. ..”!0

Although Backwell was eager to see such a society formed,
he announced that the large demands which his public duties
made upon his time would not permit him either to become one
of its active officers or to promise it a regular and steady as-
gistance.!* For the project, however, he had encouragement
and adviee, and would be willing to give any other necessary
assistance which his limited time would allow. “Every person
is aware from the confined enquiry that has already been made,”
he wrote, “‘that the mineral possessions of this and the neigh-
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bouring Colonies are of some value; but this information —
requires to be extended and made accurate, before it ecan be
turned to beneficial purpose. The true way to reach this is by
the organization of a public Society supported either by general
sub§’cription, or in any other way that may be deemed proper

The subject was also taken up by other newspapers. The
Nova Scotian regarded the project as “one of the first import-
ance to the Provincial character and progress,”!? while The
Weekly Chronicle appeared to think that making geology s
branch of education in a university would be a more feasible
plan.’* To the mind of the editor of The Acadian Recorder,
however, the proposal was commendable but somewhat pre-
mature.’* ‘“The inhabitants of this country,” he wrote,
“ghould first strip the rude mantle of nature from the surface
of the earth, before they enter into researches about the deluges
of Deucalion and Noah.”

After these comments appeared, Backwell again referred
to the matter. He declared that ‘‘the only and true method
in the present situation of the Provinee is to establish a Society
in Halifax, under the sanction of influence, and regulated by a
matured system. I give it as a matter for reflection; whether
it would not be well to attach this Institution either to the
Halifax Library, or to the P. Ag. Society?”!* He wrote a
booklet, “An Introduction to the Study of Mineralogy, Or
Students Pocket Companion,’”1® of 58 pages, which was pub-
lished in 1826 by Edmund Ward of Halifax, and he earmarked
the profits from its sale for the Halifax Library, where it was
intended to form a collection of the geological and mineralogical
productions of the Provinee. Although a geological society
was not then formed, doubtless Joseph Backwell’s aid was
useful in making possible the display in the Halifax Library
in 1828, when similar collections could he seen in the Garrison
Library and in the Library of the Army Hospital in. Halifax.!?

Interest in the proposal to organize a geological society
revived in 1828, when Charles T. Jackson and Franeis Alger,
of Boston, who had recently been in Nova Seotia, published
in The American Journal of Science and Aris ““A Description of
the Mineralogy and Geology of a part of Nova Seotia.” Co-
pious exfracts from this account were printed in two of the Hali-
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fax newspapers, and local editors advocated action. The
Novascotian regretted that so little had hitherto been done and
by ourselves towards exploring and ascertaining the geology
mineralogy of our country.

At this period of our progress we ought really to be a-
gshamed to be dependent on the inhabitants of other lands
for a little scientific knowledge of our own — to negleet
the treasures before our eyes, and be obliged to hear from
strangers what it concerns us to know, and vet what we
are too careless or too indolent to learn. . . At our highest
institutions of learning, we believe, a fair knowledge of it
may be obtained, but hitherto very few of our graduates
have considered it an object worthy of after cultivation;
and to the great mass of the reading, thinking, and in-
telligent, of our population, the science is a thing hidden-
a book sealed. . . A Society might easily be formed here,
and another at 8t. John, for the purpose of making full
collections of Mineralogical specimens, and watching over
this branch of Science; and, with a very trifling expense
either of time or money, might, in a few years, by the
emulation and interest they would create, and by the
judicious application of honorary rewards, do much to-
wards the acquisition of correct and valuable information;
and thereby rescue the Province from the reproach of
being far behind the rest of the world in an acquaintance
with geologieal and mineral formations... It may be
said, that we have no Leecturers, no Professors, no Books;
but the latter may be procured, and as to the former, how-
ever desirable they might be, much could be done without
them, , 18

The Free Press repeated the hope that some effort would now
be made to form a geological society. This Provinge, it added,
“abounds In minerals and other valuable substanees, to which
the attention of such an Institution might be profitably direc-
ted; and the individual amusement and instruection that eounld
be afforded, would be ample and unfailing.’’1?

By this time, however, one distinguished Nova Seotian
was making his mark in science, as teacher, lecturer and {founder
of a museum. This was Rev. Thomas MeCullouch, D.D.,
who in 1822 had been awarded the D.D. degree, by the Uni-
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versity of Glasgow, partly “in consideration of the valuable
donation of Insects lately presented by him to [that] Univer-
sity’’, and who by 1823 had been elected an Honorary Member
of the Wernerian Natural History Society of the University
of Edinburgh, an Honorary Member of the Literary and Philo-
sophical Society of Newcastle, and an Honorary Member of the
Antiquarian Society of Neweastle.?? At Pictou Academy Dr,
MeCulloch introduced his students to Chemistry and Natural
Philosophy, and used philosophical apparatus and museum
specimens to illustrate his teaching. At Pictou in the spring
of 1827 he delivered a course of popular lectures in Natural
Philosophy, with experiments, which The Acadian Recorder re-
ferred to as “‘presumably the first of the kind delivered in Nova
Scotia.”’?t Three years later he delivered similar lectures to
crowded audiences in Halifax.?? By that time his natural his-
tory museum at Pictou had taken form, and Audubon, the
American naturalist, was both surprised and delighted to find
such a collection there, when he visited the place in 1833. A
year later MeCulloch’s museum was taken to England and sold
there. Subsequently, after he became Principal of Dalhousie
College, McCulloch and his family built up another natural
history collection in Halifax.

Three other Nova Scotians who demonstrated a keen
interest in Natural History or Natural Science were Richard
Garland, Andrew Downs, and Abraham Gesner. Garland,
son of a Kingston-upon-Hull solicitor and attorney-at-law,
was sub-librarian of the Halifax Library,?® which had a geolo-
gical and mineralogical collection. In 1833-1834 he advanced
a proposal for the establishment of a museum of natural his-
tory.2* Downs also had a fondness for natural history; near
the head of the North West Arm in 1847 he was to establish
the first zoological gardens in America north of Mexico. Dr.
Gesner published his Remarks on the Geology and Mineralogy
of Nova Scotie in 1836. Another Nova Scotlan naturalist of
distinetion was J. W. (later Sir John William) Dawson, who
was assoclated with Sir Charles Lyell in 1846 and 1852 in an
investigation of the geology and mineralogy of the Maritime
Provinees, and who published a book entitled Acadian Geology
in 1855.

If difficulties in the way of the formation of a geological
society had not yet been overcome, a significant milestone was
reached in this Provinece with the creation of the Halifax
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Mechanics’ Institute late in 1831. At that time Halifax, still
unincorporated, had fewer than fifteen thousand people, and the
total population of the Province had not yet reached one
hundred and seventy thousand. But aware not only of local
needs and possibilities, but alsc of the aims and achievements
of Mechanics' Institutes in the British Isles and of those re-
cently formed at York in 1830 and at Quebec in 1831, Nova
Scotian editors described the advantages to be derived from
associations for mutal improvement and advocated similar
institutions for this Province. Interested individuals took up
the cause, with the result that the Halifax Mechanies’ Library
and the Halifax Mechanies’ Institute were both organized in
1831.2% The primary aims of the Mechanics’ Institute in-
cluded the aceumulation of models and apparatus, the intro-
duction of such mechanical improvements as had been dis-
covered in other countries, the diffusion of knowledge of such
as might be invented here, and the procuring of lectures on
scientific and other subjects from members of the society or
other competent persons. It began with a membership of 52,
and for twenty-five years it contributed a great deal to the
educational and cultural life of Halifax. It was an adult
education movement, varied in eontent, providing vocational
training and edueation in the arts and science, at a time when
Dalhousie College was still in its stone age, having a stone
building, but neither staff nor students. Lectures dealt with
everything from elimate to cart-making, from history to hydrau-
lics and from mechanies to musie, and the steam engine, metals
and science, chemistry, geology and mineralogy were included,
An average of 200 persons attended meetings in January 1832,
and as many as 237 tickets were issued in the year 1846.
Eventually it went into decline in the 1860's.

While the Halifax Mechanics’ Institute was still thriving,
the Halifax Literary and Scientific Society was established in
1839.2¢ It was somewhat similar in character to the Mechanics’
Institute, but its emphasis was more on literature than on
seience. It met in a room in the old Dalhousie College on the
Grand Parade. It considered such matters as mental improve-
ment,” and discussed such questions as: Should more than
one College in Nova Scotia receive Provincial aid??® Should
domestic manufacturers be aided by protective duties or should
free trade be given unlimited scope??® It held annual festivals,
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with quoits, ball games, gymnastic exercises and other amuse-
ments, as well as refreshments.®® At its regulsr meetings
young men not only obtained practical experience in public
speaking, but realized the advantage of storing their minds
with useful information., It was rather exclusive in character,
for its meetings were held behind closed doors, and it was small
in numbers.?! After a few years it seems to have dropped part
of its original title, and it was thereafter listed in the almanacs
as The Halifax Literary Society until 1846,

The Halifax Literary and Secientific Society ceased its
activity, but the Halifax Mechanies’ Institute continued its
career. Eventually, however, interest in it began to wane,
other Jeetures cut into its membership and its attendance, and
the organization and training of the Volunteer Companies
absorbed the time and the attention of many of the young men
of the area.

Nevertheless, there were persons who would be interested
in s society whose meetings would deal with important ques-
tions and give a hearing to original papers, and steps were
now taken to found one. By ecirculars and by notices in the
newspapers, a meeting was called for January 4, 1859 in Dal-
housie College.®? Andrew MacKinlay, President of the Halifax
Mechanies’s Institute, was chairman of this meeting, when it
was decided that a society should be established in this Pro-
vinee, to meet in Halifax, or at times in other places, for the
reading and discussion of original eommunications on suech
gubjects in Literature, Science, Political Economy, Commerce,
Statisties and the Arts, as might tend to draw forth talent and
useful information; to encourage the study of history, natural
history, products and capabilities of the Provines; to foster a
spirit of epquiry and enterprise, and generally promote the
advancement of science, learning, and the useful arts. It is
clear that in its emphasis on original eontributions it differed
in some degree from the Mechanies’ Institute; and Andrew
MacKinlay, President of the Mechanics’ Institute, not only
presided at the founding meeting of the new society, but was
also chosen ag ifs first President,.

At this inaugural meeting 21 members were enrolled, and
subsequently 56 others added their names to the membership.
Besides President MacKinlay, the officers included Rev. Dr.
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J. M., Cramp (Principal of Acadia College) and Dr. Charles
Cogswell as Vice-Presidents; 8. L. Shannon as Treasurer;
and Hugo Reid and William Garvie as Secretaries. There was
also a Counecil, at first of 16 and later of 21, including Hon.
Stayley Brown; Henry How, Professor of Chemistry and Nat-
ural History at King's College; Rev. J. M. Hensley, Professor
of Mathematics at King's College, and T. B. Akings (Reeord
Commissioner of Nova Scotia.)

For about three years the Nova Scotia Literary and Scien-
tifie Society continued to meet. During its first session, papers
were delivered at six meetings. These were the opening ad-
dress of the President; ““On the kind of Education best suited
for Nova Scotia” by Dr. Charles Cogswell; ‘‘Notes on the Pre-
servation of Timber Buildings from Fire” by Lieutenant Home,
R. E.; “Decimal Currency’’, by Hon. W. A. Henry; '‘The
Fossiliferous Rocks of Arisaig, Sydney County, Nova Scotia”
by Rev. D. Honeyman; ‘‘Warming and Ventilation” by W. S.
Symonds; ‘‘Desecription and Analysis of Three New Minerals,
Associates in the Trap of the Bay of Fundy” by Professor
Henry How; and ‘“‘The Advantages of Local Museums in
connection with Mineralogical Studies” by Henry Poole. The
programme for the second session was made up of twelve
papers, dealing with such subjeets as ‘“The Pre-Columbian
Discovery of Ameriea”, “On Some Points of Interest in the
Geology of Nova Scotia”, “Electric Currents”, “The Botany
of the Carboniferous Roeks of Nova Seotia”, ““The Saxons of
Germany’’, and ‘‘Recent Discoveries of Roman Remains in
Britain’’. During the session of 1861 - 1862 the proceedings
of this society were interrupted by the occupation of Dalhousie
College by the military authorities, but its meetings were
resumed late in March 1862.2% Robert Morrow was its Presi-
dent at that time, with Dr. Daniel MeNeill Parker and William
Lawson as Vice-Presidents, and Dr. Charles Tupper as one of
the members of the Counecil. At a meeting in March 1862
Israel Longworth of Truro read papers on the early Indian and
French occupation of Cobequid and on the erection of Nova
Scotia into counties.?* The regular session of 1861-1862 was
brought to a elosc by a meeting on April 7, when a paper on the
edible mollusea of our seas, written by John R. Willis of the
National School, and another on the animal creation, written
by J. M. Jones, were read.?® At the end of his account of this
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meeting, the Halifax Morning Chronicle reporter stated: ‘“We
are glad to see so suitable a position occupied by the Scientifie
Society, and hope that the next session may be characterized
by increased activity and usefulness.” Despite this comment,
that meeting was probably the last regular meeting of the Nova
Scotia Literary and Scientific Society, although a special meet-
ing of it was called for June 10, 1862,% when its proceedings
may have been terminated for a variety of reasons.

The circumstances which killed the Nova Seotia Literary
and Scientific Society called the Nova Seotian Institute of
Science into existence. Those circumstiances were in a setting
which had been marked by significant developments within
the preceding two decades. Halifax had been incorporated
and it now had its own elected administration. At the pro-
vineial level responsible government had heen introduced.
In the economic sphere railway building was proceeding, con-
trol over the mines and minerals of Nova Scotia had been trans-
ferred to the Provinee, new coal mines were being opened, the
tonnage of shipping was increasing, and gold had been discover-
ed. The population of the Province had risen to more than
330,000 and Halifax now had over 25,000 people. The dis-
covery of gold had attracted the attention of the world to Nova
Scotia and its resources in 1860. Although the visit of the
Prinee of Wales had gratified all Nova Scotiansin the same year,
that gratification was followed by the annoyance caused by the
misrepresentations of a few English correspondents, a feeling
which was to be mollified by the success achieved by Nova
Scotian displays at the International HExhibition at London
in 1862. Actually, some of the men who were invoived in
making arrangements for the Nova Secotian displays for this
Exhihition were to be the cnes to take the lead in the formation
of the Nova Scotian Institute of Science. For some time,
moreover, there had been a feeling on the part of a number of
the members of the Nova Scotia Literary and Scientific Society
that the range of interests and the variety of fopics of that
institution were too wide to do ample justice to scientific mat-
ters or to appeal to their practical minds. These factors com-
bined to end the career of one society and to create another.

After having received an invitation from the Imperial
Commissioners for the International Exhibition, Nova Secotia
took steps to ensure an efficient representation of our various
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resources. A Provineial Board of Commissioners was establish-
ed in 1861, comprising members of the Legislature and private
persons, of which Hon. Joseph Howe, the Provincial Secretary,.
was chairman, and Andrew MacKinlay was vice-chairman.
Among the other members were John Matthew Jones and
Robert Morrow; two of the Acting Ex-Officio Members were
Rev. Alexander Forrester, Superintendent of Eduecation and
Principal of the Normal School, and Professor Henry How of
King’s College; Agent and Superintendent in England was
Rev. David Honeyman, who a few years later became the first
curator of the Provineial Museum. R. G. Haliburton, son of
Judge T. C. Haliburton, was Secretary of the Nova Scotian
Commissioners for the International Exhibition. Committees
were appointed on minerals, manufacturers, natural history,
agriculture, and fish; and Andrew MacKinlay, James Thomp-
son, J. Matthew Jones, Rev. Dr. Forrester and Hon. Benjamin
Wier were the chairmen of those committees. In order that the
geology and the minerals of the Province should be fully re-
presented, the services of Rev, David HHoneyman were secured,
as well as those of Dr. How, Professor of Chemistry of King's
College, and R. G. Haliburton, Halifax barrister, who was the
secretary of the Commission. At the International Exhibition
in 1862 Nova Scotian exhibitors were awarded 19 medals and
11 honourable mentions, and at the Royal Horticultural Show
of the same year they received 13 medals. This creditable
showing at those exhibitions evoked favourable publicity which
vindicated Nova Scotia and its resources and inspired Nova
Scotians to action along a number of ines. One result was the
determination that the natural history of Nova Scotia in all
its branches should be carefully studied.

R. G. Haliburton took the initiative in action for the for-
mation of a society for that purpose. By means of a printed
circular he called a meeting for March 28, 1862, with a view
to establishing such a society. Among those to whom he sent
copies of his eircular were Rev. Dr. Cramp, Principal of Acadia
College, Major B. H. Norton, United States Consul at Pictou,
Rev. Dr. James Robertson of Wilmot, and Rev. John Ambrose
of St. Margaret’s Bay, all of whom greeted the proposal with
enthusiasm, although they were unable to attend this meeting.
“It appears to me eminently desirable,” Dr. Cramp wrote,
“that the Natural History of our Provinee, in all its branches,
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should be carefully studied. The formation of a Society for
that purpose will be hailed with great satisfaction. It will
lead, I hope, to the establishment of a Provincial Museum. . ,"#
“The object you have in view, is, to my mind,” Major Norton
stated, ‘“‘of vast importance to the future well-being of the
Provinee; and if rightly carried out, will do more to develop
the valuable resources to be found within her limits, than from
any other cause. ..”?® Rev. Dr. Robertson conecurred in the
proposal. ‘““Now it appears to me,” he added, ““that you are
the very man to move in this business; and that your influence
both here and in England could be most beneficially exerted in
this behalf. ..”3?* Rev. Mr. Ambrose declared that such a
society ‘‘will, if properly organised and worked, result in a great
benefit to this Province.” ‘‘The degree of notice,” he added,
“which Messrs. Jones and Willis have already attracted to this
country from scientific men in other lands, and the new born
love for Natural History which they have engendered in other
minds among us, producing zealous eo-workers — otherwise
idle in thig respect — plainly show what might be done if a Pro-
vinecial Museum were established and a well-selected society
formed. . 7’40

Other preliminary meetings were soon held, and the Nova
Scotian Institute of Natural Secience was established. To
Haliburton's circular of May 13, Rev. Dr. Robertson and A. P.
Ross were among those who replied. The former wrote: “I
am very glad indeed to understand from your Circular of the
13th Currt that you have succeeded in giving a local habitation
and & name to “The Nova Scotian Institute of Natural Science.’
It is just the very thing we want at the present time, and will
I have no doubt produce under discreet management benefits
to the Province.”41 The latter, a barrister and a man of busi-
ness, as well as one of the founders of the Pictou Literary and
Scientific Society, though unable to attend the meeting of
which he had notice, stated: ‘“The Nova Scotia Institute of
Natural Science has long been a desideratum in this Province
and I have no doubt its formation will be productive of many
valuable results. . .42

One of those whose opinions were sought by Haliburton was
Dr. Abraham Gesper. On May 15 Haliburton handed him a
paper dealing with the proposed society, and Gesner, who was
then staying at the Atlantic Hotel in Halifax, a native though
not at that time a resident of the Provinee, suggested that
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geography and sta,tlstms might be added to Haliburton’s
catalogue of sciences.

The Nova Scotian Instltute of Natural Science was organiz-
ed in the spring of 1862 and officers for the ensuing year were
elected at a meeting on May 20. It was formed for the pur-
pose of encouraging the study of natural secience in all ifs
branches, especially with reference to the productions and re-
gources of this Province. It was proposed to hold evenmg
meetings, for the reading of original papers on geology, minera-
logy, botany, zoology, meteoroclogy and physical geography, and
to publish a selection of those papers annually.

The first officers elected were:

President .. ................TheEarlofMulgrave

Vieo-Presidents ..................J. M. Jones, F.L.S.;
T. Belt, Esq.

Members of Couneil.............. Rev. Dr. Forrester,

Dr. How, Dr. Cramp, Rev. J. Ambrose, Dr. Gilpin,
J. R. Willis, Esq.

Secretaries...................... R. G. Haliburton,
Captain Lyttleton
Treasurer. : .Captain Lyttletont

An ad]ourned meetlng was held at Haliburton's office at
53 Barrington Street the next night, and a general mesting of
the society was called for Saturday, June 28, at 8 p.m. in the
basement room of the National Sehool, for the election of new
members and other business. In the notice which he prepared
for the morning newspapers, Thomas Belt, one of the Vice-
Presidents of the Nova Scotia Institute of Natural Science,
and also superintendent of the Nova Scotia Gold Company’s
mines, used these words:
That very excellent institution, the Literary and Scientific
Society, which is deserving of more support than it has
hitherto received, embraces a wider field, and is open to
the reception of historical and literary papers, which is
not the case with the Nova Seotia Institute—it being more
exclusively intended for the subjects already specified,
and having a special reference to the resources of the
Province. 48
This notice appeared in The Morning Chronicle of June21, 1862,
According to the oldest extant membership roll, 24 men
were elected to membership on December 26, 1862, These
included 5 military officers, 2 engineers, 1 superintendent of
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mines, 1 or 2 professors, 2 physicians, 3 or 4 lawyoers, 2 clergy-
men, 1 school teacher, 1 press agent and 1 merchant. Among
these were several amateur natural scientists of note.

Subsequently, at & general meeting held in the Hall of the
Medical Society, Halifax, on Deecember 31, 1862, new officers
were appointed and other business was transacted.® J. M.
Jones was chairman of this meeting, and the others present
were: T. Belt, S. Gray, Dr. Gilpin, W, Gossip, R. G. Halibur-
ton, Captain Lyttleton, H. Poole, Captain Hardy, J. R. Willis,
and P. C. Hill. A draft of the by-laws which had been pre-
pared by the Council was read, and at the desire of the Council
and officers their resignations were accepted and a new selection
was made. The Lisutenant-Governor now became Patron
rather than President, and the other office-holders and mem-
bers of Council chosen at this time were:

President.......................P. C. Hill

(who was then Mayor)
Viee-Presidents .. ... .............J. M. Jones and

R. G. Haliburton
Members of Couneil .............. Dr. Gilpin, Rev. .

Ambrose, Henry Poole, Ca,pta,m Ha,rdy, T. Belt

Secretaries . .. R. Willis and

J B Young
TPEBABUEOE oo 2 wen somssmegroon s 1 & & 2 3 Captain Lyttleton

At this meeting it was decided that the next monthly
meoting would be held on January 19 and that afterwards
regular meetings would be held on the first Monday of each
month. The Secretaries were directed to make inquiries as to
procuring the Mechanics Institute Room at Dalhousie College
or some other suitable place for monthly meetings. The draft
of the by-laws with some slight modifications was unanimously
adopted.

By the end of 1862 the Nova Scotian Institute of Natural
Science, as it was then ealled, was solidly established and ready
to embark upon that fruitful career which has now reached its
centenary. It began less than three years after the publication
of Charles Darwin’s famous book The Origin of Species; asit
embarks upon its second century perhaps The Nova Scotian
Institute of Science also deserves Herbert Spencer’s phrase *‘the
survival of the fittest.”
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INSTITUTE ACTIVITIES

Having completed its organization and having adopted
its by-laws, the Nova Scotian Institute of Natural Seience began
its scientific inquiry at a meeting in Dalhousie College on
January 19, 1863.% Two papers were read that evening —
“The Common Herring of Nova Scotia’” by Dr. J. B. Gilpin
was the first, and “Noecturnal Life of Animals in the Forest”
by Captain Campbell Hardy, Royal Artillery, was the second.
Dr. Gilpin and Captain Hardy were the first in a notable line
of amateur natural seientists who contributed greatly to the
success of the Institute in its early years. Ten years later Dr.
Gilpin was elected President of the Institute, and as time passed
Captain Hardy not only rose to the rank of Major-General but
was the sole surviving original member of the Institute prior
to his death at Dover, England, in 1919.

One of the chief objects of the Institute was that monthly
meetings should be held for the purpose of reading papers upon,
and diseussing matters relating to, Natural Science.*® The
proceedings of 1863 in this direction are a sample of what was
done and what could be done in the first period of the society.
The papers presented by Dr.Gilpin and Captain Hardy in
January were followed by President Hill's address on the pur-
poses and objects of the Institute and Thomas Belt’s article
“Some recent movements of the earth’s surface”, at the meeting
in February. At the next meeting R. G. Haliburton read his
paper on littoral changes and Henry Poole delivered one *‘On
the characteristic Fossils of different Coal seams in Nova
Scotia.”! In April Dr. Forrester read his paper on the ferns of
Nova Scotia and J. Matthew Jones contributed one entitled
‘“Contributions to the Ichthyology of Nova Seotia.”” In May
Dr. Gilpin gave a paper on S¢ymnus Borealis or Arctic Shark;
Dr. Abraham Gesner, physician turned scientist, who had dls-
covered kerosene oil in 1852, delivered one on “Gold and its
separation from other Minerals;” R. (G. Haliburton read an
article on “New Materials for the History of Man derived from
a Comparison of Customs and Superstitions of Nations;” J. R.
Willis read Professor Henry How’s paper on Magnema—Alum
or Plckermglte, containing a little nickel and cobalt, occurring
in slate, in Hants County; and Vice-President Jones read
Colonel R. J. Nelson’s communication on granitic formation
in the neighbourhood. At the November meeting Dr. Gilpin’s
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third paper of the year had to do with some of the mammals
of the Province, and J. M. Jones, the new President, exhibited
a collection of the reptilia of Nova Scotia, preserved by aleohol
in glass tubes, and described their character and habits. In
December Captain Hardy, one of the Vies-Presidents, read a
paper on the natural history of the capelin, and J. M. Jones
read one on the natural history of the mollusca of the Bermudas.
These papers were disecussed as well as heard by the other mem-
bers of the Institute.

The persons who produced papers for the programme of
1863 constitute a typical sample of the membership as a whole
at that time. Dr. J, B. Gilpin, native of Rhode Island, had
graduated from Trinity College, Providence, and studied medi-
cine in England, before practicing his profession at Annapolis
Royal and then at Halifax. He spent his spare time in a study
of the animal life of the provinee, and became widely known as
an amateur zoologist.® Captain Campbell Hardy, born at
Norwich, England, and educated at the Royal Military Aca-
demy, Woolwich, had a distinguished military career, and
served in Nova Scotia from 1852 to 1867. He was retired in
1880, with the honorary rank of Major-General. Six papers
by him were published in the Transactions of the Institute, and
in 1869 he published in London his Forest Life in Acadie, re-
counting one of the most delightful phases of his life. P. C.
Hill was a native of Halifax, who was educated at King’s Col-
lege and entered the legal profession. He bhecame a lawyer,
was mayor of Halifax from 1861 to 1864, a member of the
Legislative Assembly in 1870-1871 and from 1874 to 1878, and
Premier of Nova Scotia from 1875 to 1878. He was a man of
literary rather than scientific tastes, and it was undoubtedly
true that he was chosen President of the Institute in 1862-63
becanse he was mayor of Halifax at the time, Thomag Belt
was a native of England, who conducted geologieal investi-
gations in the gold fields of Australia, before becoming superin-
tendent of the Nova Scotia Gold Company in 1862, He was a
geologist and naturalist. R. G. Haliburton, son of T. C, Hali-
burton, was born at Windsor, educated at King’s College and
trained in the law. He practised his profession at Halifax, was
gecretary of the Nova Scotia Commissioners for the Interna-
tional Exhibition of 1862, and took a leading part in the forma-
tion of the Nova Scotian Institute of Natural Science. For a
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time he was aide-de-camp to the Lieutenant-Governor. He
was an amateur ethnologist. Henry Poole was a well-known
mining engineer and geologist, who had charge of coal mining
in Pictou County. Rev. Dr. Alexander Forrester was the first
Prinecipal of the Normal School at Truro, and he held the dual
position of Principal of the Normal School and Superintendent
of Education from 1855 to 1864. After relinquishing the Sup-
erintendency in 1864, he continued as Prineipal of the Normal
School until his death in 1869. John Matthew Jones was born
in Wales, edueated at the Middle Temple, London, but possess-
ed of private means did not practise law. He spent some time
in Bermuda, where he conducted researches in natural history,
and afterwards he came to Halifax, where at the time his rela-
tive, the Earl of Mulgrave, was Lieutenant-Governor. He was
an amateur zoologist and an enthusiastic eollector, who had a
large private museum and whose favourite zoological studies
related to fishes, reptiles and mollusea. Dr. Abraham Gesner,
born at Cornwallis, was both geologist and physician. He made
a geological survey of New Brunswick and Prince Edward
Island, discovered kerosene oil, and wrote many scientifie pap-
ers and reports. Remarks on the Geology and Mineralogy of
Nova Scolia, one of his books, was published in 1836, Henry
How, a native of London, England, studied Chemistry at the
Royal College of Chemistry, and was assistant professor
of Chemistry at the College for Civil Engineers at Putney,
analytical chemist to the British Admiralty Steam Coal En-
quiry, and assistant professor at Edinburgh University and at
Glasgow University, before being appointed professor of Che-
mistry and Natural History at King’s College, Windsor, in
1854. He was one of the Nova Scotia Commissioners for the
International Exhibition of 1862, and he helped to make a
collection of the minerals of the Province for that exhibition.
His writings include The Mineralogy of Nova Scotia, which was
published in 1869. Colonel R. J. Nelson had been Command-
ing Royal Engincer at Halifax.

There were enthusiastic amateurs as well as professional
men among the natural scientists who provided papers in 1863,
with the amateurs outnumbering the professionals. During
that year two of the amateurs were military officers. The
subjects discussed ranged from geology and mineralogy to
ichthyology, lepidoptera and reptilia.
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Another object of the Institute was the publication of lists
of the various natural productions of the Provinee, with such
observations as their respective authors might deem necessary,
as well as of a selection of the papers read at the meetings.
Volume I Part I of The Transactions of the Nova Secotian
Institute of Natural Science was published at Halifax in 1863,
as the first number of a continuing series.

~ According to the by-laws adopted in 1862, four field meet~
ings were to be held each year. Although it proved to be im-
possible to have four excursions of this nature annually, the
Institute did arrange to have a number of very pleasant field
meetings.

The first was held on June 11, 1864 at French Village, St.
Margaret’s Bay, for the purpose of investigating Indian shell-
heaps in that vieinity.®® Another was held on September 10th
of the same year at Acadia Iron Mines, Londonderry. The
members left by the evening train for Truro on Friday, Septem-
ber 9th, stayed there overnight, set out from Truro for Lon-
donderry at an early hour on Saturday morning, and returned
to Truro at 6 p.m., before continuing on to Halifax.* A third
field meeting was held that year, with interested members
going to Cole Harbour on September 21st in order to examine
Indian shell-heaps.

One field meeting took place in 1865. It was at Waverley
Gold Mines. On July 1st 14 members and friends went to
the site by way of Dartmouth, Mr. James Woodman's livery
stable providing two wagons for the trip at 5s. per person.
After visiting the mines, they went to Mrs. Marshall’s on the
Dartmouth Road and sat down to s substantial dinner at 5 p.m.
Another field meeting was planned for the Stewiacke area that
summer and the Chief Commissioner of Railways offered free
transportation for it; but so few members signified their
intention to be present that this excursionfailed to materialize.52

Field meetings were also planned for 1866, but only one
took place. This was a pilgrimage on June 26th to the grave
of Titus Smith, ‘‘the Dutch Village Philosopher,’”” where an
account of his life and work was given followed by a visit to
President Jones’s museum at ““Ashburn.”
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Four years later an attempt was made to have a field trip
on June 28th to explore the Indian shell-mounds in the vicinity
of St. Margaret’s Bay, but this proved to be a failure. The
next year, however, there was a field excursion to Montague
Gold Mines. On June 21, 1871 about 20 members and friends
met at the Steam Boat Wharf and proceeded in the 2 p.m.
boat to Dartmouth, from where they drove to their destination
about six miles distant. Dr. Honeyman described the strata,
and Walter Lawson, the proprietor of a portion of the mines,
provided a conducted tour and explained the processes of crush-
ing, amalgamating and retorting, after which he entertained
his guests with coffee and crackers. The members and their
friends returned to Halifax delighted with this outing.

In later years three other field meetings were held. One
was at Grand Lake on August 24, 1876. Two occurred in 1878
— the first of these at Point Pleasant on August 3rd, and the
gsecond at York Redoubt on August 24th, These ended the
field meetings of the Institute. Although others were subse-
quently proposed, none was held. The first by-laws had pre-
scribed four field meetings per year, but when the by-laws
were revised in 1884 it was provided that field meetings or
excursions should be held at such times and places and under
such regulations as the Council might from time to time deter-
mine, At the annual meeting in 1935, Harry Piers, the oldest
active member, lamented the elimination of field trips and
spoke about the desirability of reviving them.

At intervals the aims and objects of the Institute have
been discussed. According to the original by-laws, there
were to be regular meetings for the purpose of reading papers
upon and discussing matters relating to natural science. There
were also to be field meetings, and provision was to be made
for the publication of lists of the various natural productions
of the Provinge, with such observations as their authors deemed
necessary, as well as of a selection of the papers that were
read at meetings. In his inaugural address of February 1863,
President P. C. Hill used these words:

. .Communication with each other; every laborer in the
field casting his contribution intoc a common receptacle
whence all can freely draw, can alone give these results of
individual! effort their highest value, and convert that
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which formed the reereation of a single mind into the
eomponent portions of one mighty whole,

It is, then, to aid in this important work and to afford

a well constituted and organized channel for the contri-

butions to the general stock of knowledge of those among

ourselves who are interested in the fascinating fields of

knowledge embraced in the term ‘“‘Natural Science” that

the ‘““Nova Scotian Institute” has been established. . .

On that occasion, Mr. Hill also stated: “In conclusion, I may

add that the Society embraces in the field of its observations

not only the Province of Nova Seotia, but also Prinee Edward

Island, Newfoundland, Labrador, and the Bermuda’s localities,

to which the scientific observer has hitherto paid but slight
attention.’’ 5

Dr. A. P. Reid, a Halifax physician, was one of those who
advocated broadening the scope of the Institute. To enhance
its efficiency he urged it not to confine itself to natural science
but rather to embrace within its ambit other branches of
seience, such as electricity, magnetism, astronomy and so
forth,"* Commenting upon this proposal early in 1872, Pro-
fessor George Lawson, of Dalhousie University, then the Vice-
President of the Institute, declared that, although the Institute
took special cognizance of natural science, other branches of
seience, such as meteorology, had a place in its proceedings,
and that the Institute virtually conformed to the views expres-
sed by Dr. Reid.

At the annual meeting of 1874, by motion of Dr. Reid and
Augustus Allison, it was unanimously decided to request the
Council to report on the desirability of having the Institute
divided into sections.®® Shortly afterwards the Council agreed
to the division of the Institute into three sections — one for
Natural History, one for Ethnology, and one for Technology.%
Subsequently, when the by-laws were revised in 1884, while
Robert Morrow was President, the Institute retained its old
name, but its object was given as ‘‘the promotion of scientific
research,”®7

Eventually the name was changed. This was done in
1890, during the Presidency of Professor James Gordon Mae-
Gregor, At a meeting of the Council on March 4th of that
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year it was decided that a special business meeting would be
called for the 24th of the same month to deal with three pro-
positions of which notice would be given. These were:

1. Resolved that the name of the Institute be the Nova
Scotian Institute of Seience.

2. Resolved that the name of the Institute he the Nova
Scotian Seientific Institute.

3. Resolved that the Council apply for an act of incor-
poration.

In accordance with these decisions, the special meeting was
held at the appointed time, when, on motion of Augustus
Allison and Alexander Mc¢Kay, it was unanimously resolved
that the first of the two alternative names should be chosen
and that thenceforth this society should be called The Nova
Scotian Institute of Science.

In the same year the Nova Scotian Institute of Science was
incorporated. This was done by Chapter 123 of the Statutes of
Nova Scotia of 1890, Part of one section of this statute runs
as follows: ‘‘The object of said body shall be the promotion of
scientific research,. . .”

Another indication of the modification of the character of
the Institute is seen in the proceedings of 1917-18. At the
annual meeting in 1917 it was announced that at the next
ordinary meeting the question would be taken up as to whether
the Transactions should be more particularly confined to the
publication of papers on subjects bearing more or less directly
on Nova Scotia, except in such non-local departments as chem-
istry and physies, ‘‘as has been the practice hitherto;” or
whether the publication of papers of non-local subjects generally
should be permitted. This question was dealt with at the
ordinary meeting in February 1918, when, with only one member
dissenting, this resolution was adopted: ‘‘Resolved that the
N.S. Institute of Seience throw open its Proceedings and Trans-
actions to papers in all departments of science provided they
are contributed by persons working in Nova Scotia.”

Soon there was such a dearth of papers on natural science
that Dr, E. Gordon Young, the President, drew attention to it
in December 1930. He tried to redress the balance in some
measure by announcing that that type of paper would be wel-
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comed, as well as those of the kind that had been heard during
the last few years.®®

Early in the following year the Council appointed a com-
mitiee, comprising the President (Dr. Young), Dr. Henderson,
Dr. Chipman, and Rev. Brother Cornelia, to consider ways and
means of obtaining papers for the meetings and for publication,
and thii committee was empowered to consider allied topies as
it saw fif.

This committee made its report to the Council on October
26, 1931. This report was as follows:

After careful enquiry and due consideration the committee
submit the following recommendations to the Counecil of
the Institute.

1. That the aim of the society at the present time should
be the encouragement of papers pertaining espeecially
to provineial matters in science. The deseriptive and
systematic paper on the fauna and flora of the Mari-
times should logically be published in the Proceedings.
This likewise applies to the geology of the region.

2. That enquiry should be made from all possible sources
as to individuals doing or interested in work of the na-
ture of natural history. The office of the Superinten-
dent of Education, the Church of England Institute are
suggested as such places.

3. That if any programme of popular lectures for the year
be adopted 1t might be possible to choose topics per-
taining to natural history by way of discovering inter-
ested individuals.

4, That representatives of the society be appointed in the
various centres of research work in the province to as-
sist in obtaining papers suitable for publication in the
Proceedings.

At this meeting of the Council, another committee, com-
posed of the President (Dr. Young), Professor Burbidge, Dr.
Johnstone and Dr. Ritchie, was appointed to deal with the
question of having popular lectures. Three suggestions were
referred to this committee:

1. That one or two science lectures be given during the
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vear to the publie on other evenings than those of the
Institute meetings;

2. That the reading of research papers at the Institute
meetings be supplemented occasionally by talks or
papers other than reports of research work;

3. That science lectures be arranged for high school
students.

On November 9, 1931, this eommittee reported at an
ordinary meeting as follows:

Your committee desires to recommend that the Institute
do not undertake to provide lectures for the general public
or for high school students, but that the occasional pre-
sentation of papers or lectures on matters of general sei-
entific interest, at the regular meetings of the Institute,
be favourably considered and that two such papers or
lectures be provided for this winter.

This report was accepted, and the committee was authorized
to arrange a programme ag recommended.

The objeet of the Institute, as it related to original re-
search and to popular lectures, was also discussed at later
meetings. It arose in November 1934 when it was alleged
that the reason for the resignation of one member was the stress-
ing of research problems to the exclusion of topics of wider
interest.5* At that time Dr, Henderson pointed out that the
function of the society had always been to confine itself largely
to the presentation of papers embodying the results of original
research, and the Pregident (Harry Piers) declared that there
was a need for more papers on fauna or natural history. At a
meeting in 1935 one paper, though of high quality, but not em-
bodying the results of original research, raised a question of
principle. So that the Institute should not without proper
consideration make a major change in poliey, it was resolved
that the Council of the Institute should be requested to recon-
sider the criteria which it used for the acceptance of papers.
On September 30, 1935 it set forth its decision as follows: ‘‘Re-
solved that the Council of the Nova Seotian Institute of Science
reaffirm the policy of the Institute of accepting for presenta-
tion at ordinary meetings only papers containing the results
of original research.”®®
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Later other changes were made in the by-laws. Accord-
ing to the revision adopted on October 11, 1939, the objeet of
the society was stated to be *'the promotion of scientific re-
search, the holding of secientific meetings and the publication
of proceedings.”

Changing circumstances have brought about an inevitable
shift in emphasis and created a problem of communication.
In the early days there were few specialists trained in labora-
tory technmiques and scientific research, all of whose working
tine was devoted to scientific endeavour. As time passed,
however, old institutions were expanded and new ones were
created, as the scientific revolution proceeded, resulting in a
considerable inerease in the number of specialists. Outside the
field of natural history or natural science, few interested ama-
teurs could follow the papers presented by highly trained
specialists in many branches of seience.

Some of these changes are indicated by institutional de-
velopment. Dalhousie College was reorganized in 1863, with
George Lawson as Professor of Chemistry, Charles Macdonald
as Professor of Mathematics, and Thomas MeCulloch, Jr., as
Professor of Natural Philosophy. Soon Dalhousie College
provided training in Experimental Physies and Mathematical
Physics, the teaching of science was strengthened and expand-
ed, laboratories were improved or established, a faculty of
engineering was organized, medical training was given, clinics
were created, and eventually in 1955 a course leading fo the
Ph.D. Degree in biological sciences was inaugurated. Pro-
fessors at Acadia, St. Francis Xavier, St. Mary’s and other
universities hecame members of the Institute. The School
of Agriculture, of which the Nova Scotia Agrieultural College
is an outgrowth, was started in 1885. The Nova Scotia School
of Horticulture was formally opened at Wolfville in 1894,
Other institutions having an important impaect on this develop-
ment include The Nova Seotia Technical College, the Dominion
Experimental Farm or Regional Research Station at Kent-
ville, the Fisheries Experimental Station, the Nova Scotia Re-
search Foundation, the Naval Research Establishment, the
National Research Counecil, and the Institute of Oceano-
graphy.

If in the early days there were excursions or “‘field days”,
the Institute has also held other special meetings of various
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kinds. Two such meetings were conversaziones. One of
those was held in the Horticultural Hall, Horticultural Gardens,
on Thursday evening, July 6, 1865, with about 200 persons in
attendance. On that oceasion the Hall was tastefully decor-
ated with flags and with objeets of natural science, and J. M.
Jones, the President, not only delivered an address on the ad-
vantages which the Institute might be expeected to confer npon
the country, if it were properly supported and encouraged, but
gave an interesting deseription of the butterflies and moths
found in Nova Scotia. Dr. J. B. Gilpin gave an account of the
manner of taking, euring and smoking Dighy herrings (so-
called), with illustrations, and William Gossip read a paper
on the geologieal phenomena near Halifax. There was then

an interval, during which ices, lemonade, strawberries and
cream, and eakes were served, and afterwards Professor Law-
son of Dalhousie College made some observations on the sub-
ject of botany and the President concluded the programme
with appropriate remarks. A similar meeting was held in the
new Provincial Building (later known as the Dominion Build-
ing, and now the headquarters of the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police) on Monday evening, January 20, 1873, at 7.30 p.m.
There was first a promenade in the Museum, after which at
8 o’clock about 200 persons assembled in the Hall below, where
a platform had been erected and seats had been arranged. At
8.15 Lieutenant-Governor Doyle, the Patron of the Institute,
took the chair. The programme included a paper by Rev.
Dr. Warren on atmospheric air, illustrated by experiments,
observations by Dr. A. P. Reid on coal and its produets, a
paper by Dr. Honeyman on Pre-Adamite life, and an address
by Dr. Lawson on the development of cellular time. Then
those in attendanee proceeded to the Museum, which was
brilliantly lighted, and examined the collections there, before
going to an apartment for refreshments which had been pro-
vided by Rev. Dr. Warren, Mrs. Warren and Miss Clarke.

The question as to whether the Institute should provide
popular leetures has been raised time after time, and it has been
answered in different ways on different occasions. A series of
such leetures was given in- each of the years, 1922, 1923,
1924 and 1925, and one was also given in 1932. Dr. J. H.
L. Johnstone, then Assistant Professor of Physies at Dal-
housie University, gave one on “The Smallest Things in
Nature (the Atom, Electron and Proton),” on February 27,
1922, and Professor F. Ronald Hayes delivered one on “The
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Life of the Salmon”, on January 11, 1932. Between those
meetings there were other popular lectures on “Modern Aspects
of Heredity”, ‘‘Colour Photography”, “The Mechanism of the
Wireless Telephone”, “The Quebec Bridge”, “Races that
Dwell above the Clouds” (i.e., those which live at least 12,000
feet above sea-level), ‘“Weather in the Belt of Cyeclonic Storms”,
“In-breeding and Qut-breeding”, “What Seeing Means”, “The
Lure of Nature Hiking”, “The Age of the Earth”, “Musical
Sounds, their Nature and Quality”, “Sightseeing at Banff and
Lake Louise”, “The Biology of the Pearly Mussel and its Ulti-
mate Use in the Button Trade”, “Elementary Discussion of
Waves and Radiant Energy”, “The Production, Transmission
and Detection of Wireless Waves”, “Short Wave Transmission
and Reception”, and “Transatlantic Reception and Disposal
of News Traffie”. Although these popular lectures generally
attracted an attendance considerably larger than at ordinary
meetings, there was considerable doubt as to their value, and
ultimately in November 1931 the Institute reconsidered the
matter. At that time the decision made was that popular
lectures as such not be undertaken, but that the occasional
presentation of papers or lectures on matters of general scienti-
fic interest at regular meetings be favourably considered. The
general opinion of the Institute on Professor Hayes's address
of January 11, 1932 was that the presentation of lectures such
ag that “would be advantageous in the future.”

Subsequently, since September 1941, the Institute has
held a number of extraordinary meetings at most of which
visiting distinguished scientists have delivered addresses. Two
of these formed part of the centennial celebration of 1962, with
Dr. H. B. Newcombe, of Atomic Encrgy of Canada Litd., speak-
ing on radiation, man and his genes, at one, and Sir Bernard
Lovell, Professor of Radio Astronomy, University of Man-
chester, and Direetor of Jodrell Bank Experimental Station,
speaking on the exploration of outer space, at the other.

There have also been other commemorative meetings.
One was held on January 20, 1913 for the purpose of marking
the completion of the first half-century of the Institute. Af
that meeting Harry Piers read a paper entitled “A Brief His-
torical Aceount of the Nova Scotian Institute of Science, and
the events leading up to its establishment; with Biographical
Notes on some of those who have been prominent in its affairs.”
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Eleven members were present on that oceasion. Nearly
twenty-five years later, when the 75th anniversary was cele-
brated, with a public meeting in the School for the Blind,
Major-General A. G. L. McNaughton, President of the Nation-
al Research Council of Canada, gave an address on ‘“The
Organization of Research in Canada™, to an audience of about
250 persons.

In the course of its first hundred years the Nova Scotian
Institute of Science has held two free public scientific exhibi-
tions. The first one was held in the Medical Sciences Build-
ing, College Street, Halifax, on Friday and Saturday, Novem-
ber 26 and 27, 1926. Assistance was afforded to the Institute
by the various departments of Dalhousie University and the
University of King’s College, the Maritime College of Phar-
maey, the Nova Scotia Technical College, the Atlantic Fisheries
Experimental Station, and CHNS Radio Broadeasting Station,
as well as by a number of students who aided in installing ex-
hibits and explaining them to visitors. The exhibits and
demonstrations related to physics, electricity, chemistry, bio-
chemistry, geology, botany, bacteriology, zoology, fisheries,
physiology, pathology, histology, embryology, pharmacy and
dentistry, and took up nine of the large rooms in the building.
A brief printed guide or folder was prepared and sold at ten
cents per copy. The exhibition proved to be very popular and
most suceessful. The estimated attendance on Friday evening
was 1500; on Saturday afternoon 500; and on Saturday even-
ing 2500; making an estimated total of about 4,5600. As the
Recording Secretary put it; “It was probably the first really
notable exhibition of its kind ever held in the province.”

The second scientific exhibition took place on Friday and
Saturday, November 23 and 24, 1928, in the Scienee Building,
Studley Grounds, and the Medical Sciences Building, College
Street. The Governors of Dalhousie University, the managers
of the Telephone Company, the Nova Scotia Tramways and
Power Company and Moirs Limited, the managing director of
Halifax Herald Ltd., the general manager of the Chronicle
Company Ltd., the manager of Imperial Oil Ltd., and the re-
presentatives of Liquid Air Ltd. and Eastern Hosiery Mills,
of Truro, all assisted in this undertaking. Programmes were
sold, and a total of about 6,000 persons attended. Such was
the over-crowding, particularly in the Medical Sciences Build-
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ing, that the committee in charge suggested that if a similar
exhibition were held in the future an admission fee should be
charged in order to reduce the attendance to a comfortable
limit. Finanacially, there was a small deficit for this exhibition.
When it was discussed at a subsequent meeting, the prevailing
opinion seemed to be that the labour involved in such an exhibi-
tion was so great that it scemed inadvisable to undertake
another for gome time.

Another project that the Institute promoted was the pre-
paration of a catalogue of the scientific periodicals in the Mari-
time Provinces. This was initiated in 1934 and, with the as-
sistance of a grant from the National Research Council, was
carried to ecompletion in 1936.

The publication of proceedings has always been one of the
objeets of the Institute, although this object has been expressed
in slightly different ways at different times. It has been
achieved, with financial assistance from the Provineial Govern-
ment. The first selection of papers to be printed appeared in
1863, as “The Transactions of the Nova Scotian Institute of
Natural Science, Vol. 1 — Part I.” The next selection ap-
peared in the following year, as Vol. II, Part I, with the same
general title. But a new title “Proceedings and Transactions of
the Nova Scotian Institute of Natural Science” was used on the
selection of papers published as Vol. II, Part III, 1864-5, and
this continued to be used until 1889, Then, with the alferation
of the name of the organization from the Nova Scotian Institute
of Natural Science to the Nova Scotian Institute of Science,
the next selection of papers to be printed was given the title
“Proceedings of the Nova Scotian Institute of Science”, and
this new title continued to be used until one portion of Vol.
XVII, for 1928-29, was labelled “Transactions of the Nova
Scotian Institute of Science.” On November 24, 1930, the
Council considered the title of the publication, and on January
26, 1931 it decided that it should be changed to “‘Proceedings
of the Nova Scotian Institute of Science.” This has been the
name of the publication ever since that time.

To the establishment and development of the Provineial
Mouseum, the Nova Secotian Institute of Science has contributed
a great deal. In faet, as Dr. A. H. MacKay aptly stated, the
Provineial Museum is “the ward of the government, but the
child of the Institute.’’®!
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Although the Provincial Museum may be said to have
originated in the efforts made by the Province in connection
with the International Exhibitons of 1862, 1865 and 1867,
there had been advocates of the establishment of such an in-
stitution in earlier years. As we have already seen, Rev.
Thomas MecCulloch, Richard Garland and others had attemp-
ted to do something on their own, and the Halifax Mechanics’
Institute, founded in 1831, formed its own museum. Early
in 1848 a suggestion appearing in The Times elicited the follow-
ing facetious response from The Nova Scotian:

A writer in the T¥mes suggests the propriety of establishing
a Provincial Museum. We approve of the object. Two
or three active men, and a short Act of Incorporation,
are only wanted to make a beginning. Some of our Cor-
respondents have already offered to contribute:

A String of Beads from Digby Neck.

A bushel of roots that Gesner thought were potatoes.

A dose of Morrison’s Pills that had gone through the Gut
of Canso.

The Square Root of the Grand Rounds.

A Fin of a Fish Market Shark.

The Pole of the Barher, one sees between Halifax and
Dartmouth.

Some bristles from the Bore of the Shubenacadie.

The Key to the Night Watch.

The first half mile of the West India ‘‘League.”

A strand from the “Cunard Line.’

A volume of smoke from ‘‘the Battle of Life.’’%2

Subsequently, as the Province in 1861 made plans to see
that its resources would be adequately represented at the In-
ternational Exhibition in the following year, the project was
revived and given renewed impetus. Several of the founders
and early members of the Nova Scotian Institute of Science
advocated action, and early in 1861 a petition to the Legisla-
ture from Cape Breton County proposed the establishment of
Geological Museums in the several counties with a central
institution of the same nature in Halifax.®* Early in the next
year there was a proposal by the Governors of Dalhousie Col-
lege to establish a museum in connection with that institu-
tion.** On March 9, 1863, a petition from Rev. David Honey-
man, who had been a Provincial Commissioner at the Exhibi-
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tion in London in 1862, for the adoption of measures to found
a Provincial Industrial and Educational Museum, was tabled
in the House of Assembly.® Two years after that — on Mareh
13, 1865 — another communication from Dr. Honeyman and
John R. Willis in regard to the establishment of a Provineial
Museum was read in the House and referred to the committee
on mines and minerals. This committee considered the mat-
ter and made its report to the House.

Dated April 4, 1865, this report is as follows:

The committee have examined the memorial of Dr. Honey-
man and John R. Willis, advocating the establishment
of a Provincial Museum, and have heard the latter gentle-
man in person; and while they entertain favorable views
of the proposal, and fully appreciate the importance of
the work, and the benefits to flow therefrom, yvet the com-
mittee cannot recommend any active steps to be taken in
the matter until the new provineial building is completed,
and suitable apartments therein can be had as a depository
for the proposed collection, free of charge. It appears,
however, that there is at present a valuable collection of
articles in the museum of the late Mechanics’ Institute,
and other places, which would be contributed to a Pro-
vincial Museum, and are being lost for want of proper
care. The committee recommend the Government to
take such steps as they may deem necessary to coliect
and preserve the same, provided the expense does not
exceed three hundred dollars.®

Harly in 1866 Dr. Honeyman proposed to Andrew Mac-
Kinlay, trustee of the Mechanics' Institute, that the museum
of that defunct institution be made the nucleus of the Pro-
vineial Museum. MacKinlay and James Forman, the other
trustee, agreed to this proposal,®” and Dr. Honeyman then
applied to the Provincial Government for aceommodation for
a museum in the new Provineial Building, then under con-
struction. On May 9, 1866, the Lieutenant-Governor-in-
Couneil directed the commissioners of that building to provide
a room for & Provincial Museum.®®* Dr. Honeyman, who had
had charge of the Nova Scotian exhibits at the International
Exhibitions of 1862 and 1865, also looked after the provincial
displays ai the Paris Exhibition of 1867, and the Nova Scotia
Commissioners purchased the natural history collections from
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the contributors, with a view to their being deposited in the
Provineial Museum after their return from Paris. Finally,
the Provincial Museum was founded in October 1868, when
Dr. Honeyman was authorized to take possession of the room
in the new building, and the Mechanics’ Institute Museum and
the specimens which had been exhibited in Paris were trans-
ferred to it. Dr. Honeyman became the first curator of the
Provineial Museum, for a time without any remuneration.

Before long the two main objects contemplated had been
fairly well realized. These were the formation of a permanent
exhibition of the industrial resources of the Province with a
view to their manifestation and development and the provision
of means for illustrating the various branches of physieal science
and for furnishing the indispensable requisite for an effective
gcientific edueation.!® In 1870 Dr. Honeyman started a
Geological Class in the Provincial Museum, a development
which he described in a letter of May 25, 1871 to the Ion.

William Garvie, Chief Commissioner of Mines and Works, as
follows:

. . . Having an extensive and useful Geological Collection
arranged in the Museum in every respect fitted for the
illustration of the Sciences of Geology & Mineralogy espec-
ially in their applieation to Nova Scotia I proposed to
open a Geological Class, and received the sanction of
Hon. Robert Robertson to establish it. This was intended
as a Pioneer to the establishment of a School of Mines.
This class has passed its firgt Session, with perfeet success.
I have had 9 regular students and I anticipate a larger
attendance next session. . .7

Members of the Nova Scotian Institute of Science had
taken a prominent part in the creation of the Provincial Muse-
um, and the association of these two Institutions has continued.
On February 6, 1872, Dr. Honeyman commented upon their
relationship in his letter to the Superintendent of Education:

. . .The Nova Scotian Institute of Natural Science is now
associated with the Museum. The association is mutually
beneficial and there is reason to expect that the interests

of Science in Nova Scotia will thereby be materially
advaneced. . .
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Over the years the Institute has accumulated a library of
considerable proportions. It has been accommodated in a
variety of quarters; now numbering nearly 100,000 volumes,
part of it is in the library of the Nova Scotia Research ¥Founda-
tion and part in the Nova Scotia Technical College Building.

During the first hundred years of the Nova Scotian Insti-
tute of Science there have been things quaint as well as things
eommon, Omne memorable development was announced at a
meeting on May 13, 1879 by the President. This was that he
had received a communication from the Royal Microsecopical
Society of London offering to confer the honorary title of Fellow
of that Society, F.R.M.3., on the President of the Institute for
the time being, and that the Council had decided to accept
the honour. A remarkable incident in the course of the Insti-
tute is the fact that among the many papers indicative of the
specialized interests of highly trained members there was one
prepared and delivered in January 1935 by an eleven-year-old
girl. As the Recording Secretary noted at the time, ‘‘this paper
probably constituted a record in the activities of the Institute.”
A number of years later a man in another part of the Province
tried to get the Institute to sponsor what he deseribed as a
cure for ringworm. He claimed to have discovered a “cure”,
certainly not unknown earlier, that the oily residue left after
burning brown paper on iron or steel would serve as a remedy
for that skin-disease.

In 1958 prizes were offered by the Institute to science
students below the Mastor's degree at any of the universities
or colleges in Nova Scotia for the best essay in each of the
following fields of science:

(a) Physical Sciences and Engineering;

(b) Biologieal Sciences
The first award in this competition was made in 1959.

The membership of the Institute is now much greater than
it was in the early days. Twenty-four men were elected to
membership on December 26, 1862; now, however, there are
253 members. The admission fee for ordinary membership
used to be 20 shillings and then $4.00, with an annual sub-
seription of 10 shillings or $2.00. That admission fee remained
constant until 1942 when it was raised to the modest sum of
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$3.00. Associate membership was authorized on October 26,
1863, with an admission fee of 10 shillings and a yearly sub-
scription of 5 shillings. Provision was made for life member-
ships in 1864 and 1866, in the first instance on payment of £5,
and in the second case on the payment of $45 for ordinary
members of less than ten years standing or $22.50 for those of
ten or more years of good standing., Eventually student mem-
berships were authorized in 1930 at a fee of $1.00 each, and in
Januvary 1935 this fee was reduced to 50 cents. Ladies, of
course, have long been members of the Institute. Miss Bertha
Elliot, Superintendent of Nurses, Victoria General Hospital,
was admitted to membership in 1895, for example, and Miss
Margaret R. Butler was elected to the Council of the Institute
in 1934, the first lady to be so chosen.

There are also honorary members. In 1947 it was deeided
that honorary membership might be conferred on persons
rendering sufficient service to the Institute, members holding
responsible positions in science work related to Nova Scotian
problems and now retired, or non-members who have made
significant contributions to such problems. The first persons
g0 honoured were Dr, L. C. Harlow, Dr, H. E. Bigelow, Dr.
H. L. Bronson, Dr. John Cameron, Mr. P. R. Colpitt, Dr. A. G.
Huntsman, Dr. 8. G. Ritchie, and Dr. F. H. Sexton. Others
later similarly honoured included Mr. Robie Tufts, Dr. E.
Hess, Dr. R. J. Bean, Dr. J. H. L. Johnstone, Dr. Hugh Bell,
Dr. A. Kelsall, Mr. F. Herman, Dr. P. M. Bayne, Dr. H. M.
Creighton and Mr. J. A. D. MeCurdy.

In addition, provision was made in 1951 for granting life
membership to recording secretaries, corresponding secretaries,
treasurers and editors with five or more years of serviece. A
life membership was subsequently conferred on Dr. J. G. Aldous
in recognition of his valuable services.

A branch of the Institute was organized at Wolfville in
1901, and it continued in active operation until 1904, Then
that Kings County branch went out of existence. In 1952,
however, a Valley branch or chapter was established at Wolf-
ville, and it is functioning very successfully.

_ There have been attempts of various kinds to maintain or
raise the attendance at meetings. Popular lectures have oc-
casionally attracted larger audiences; special meetings have
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been held; and for part of 1940 and 1941 refreshments were
provided at meetings. These inducements have had a tem-
porary effect, though perhaps no great lasting value in increas-
ing the membership. In the early days the institute owed
muech to a small number of devoted members. Later such men
as Professor James Gordon MacGregor, Dr. A. H. MacKay
and Mr, Harry Piers nursed it through trying times. Since
1947 the membership has risen from a total of 172 to 289 in
1953, and it now stands at 253 in the centennial year.

The Nova Seotian Institute of Science has had a variety
of meeting places. Preliminary meetings in 1862 were held
in R. G. Haliburton's office at 53 Barrington Street, the base-
ment room of the National School on Argyle Street, and the
Hall of the Medical Society. From Janucary to March 1863
it met in the old Dalhousie College Building. From April
1863 to May 1871, inclusive, its meeting place was Province
House. In October 1871 it began to meet at the Provineial
Museum, in the new Provincial Buiiding (later the Dominion
Building, and now the headquarters of the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police), where it continued to meet until October
1878. Then it met in Dalhousie College until May 1881, For
October and Novemher 1881 it used the Provineial Museum
again; it met in the Stairs Building in December of that year;
and then it returned to the Provincial Museum till April 1887,
It began to meet in the Provincial Engineer’s Office in October
1887 and continued to do so until May 1888. It had its annual
meeting in Province House in October 1888. Then it returned
to the Provincial Engineer's Office for the meeting in Novem-
ber 1888, after which it began to meet in the Vietoria Art School
Rooms, where, with the exception of a meeting at Dalhousie
College in February 1889, it continued to meet until April
1890 inclusive. From then until December 1909 it met in such
places as Provinee House, the Provineial Mugeum, the Legis-
lative Committee Room, the Chureh of England Institute, the
Legislative Council Chamber, the City Council Chamber, the
Provineial Science Library, the Assembly Chamber, the Room
of the Mining Society of Nova Scotia, the Assembly Committee
Room, and the Geological Leeture Room, Dalhousie College.
On December 13, 1909, it began to meet in the Technical Col-
lege, and continued to do so until November 1916. Since
December 1916 it has met chiefly in buildings of Dalhousie
University — The Physiological Lecture Room (Room 39} of
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the Forrest Building, the Munro Room in the same building,
the Physies Lecture Room in the Secience Building, Studley,
the Physiological Lecture Room in the Medical Sciences Build-
ing, College Street, and the Dental Leeture Room, Carleton
Street. The Medical Sciences Building is now and has heen
for some years the main meeting place. QOccasionally, however,
there have been meetings in the Biological Building, Acadia
University; Elliot Hall, Acadia University; the Naval Re-
search Establishment, Dartmouth; the Physics Lecture Room,
Dalhousie University; the Nova Scotis Technical College or
the Arts and Administration Building, Dalhousie University.

To commemorate its centennial the Nova Scotian Institute
of Science not only sponsored two well-attended special leetures
by distinguished visiting seientists but had a centenary dinner
at the Lord Nelson Hotel, Halifax, on April 6, 1962. Dr. W. J.
Archibald, the President of the Institute, was the chairman at
this dinner, which was attended by about 110 persons, includ-
ing Major-General the Honourable E. C. Plow, Lieutenant-
Governor of Nova Scotia, and Mrs. Plow, Hon. R. L. Stanfield,
Premier of Nova Scotia, and Mrs. Stanficld, and at which Dr.
C. Bruce Fergusson, Provineial Archivist, delivered an address
on the history of the organization.

LIST OF PRESIDENTS 1862 - 1962

1. The Earl of Mulgrave . .... . ................ 1862
2. Philip Cartaret Hill .. ... ... ... ... ... ...... 1862-63
3. John Matthew Jones ... .................... 1863-73
4. Dr. John Bernard Gllpm ceeeeeee.... 1B73-78
6. William Gossip .. e eeeieeia.... 1878-80
6. Dr. John Somers . crr sy eewesa ey sasa e 1880-83
7. Robert Morrow . . e ... 1883-85
8. Dr. John Somers . .ev.... 1885-88
9. Professor James Gordon MacGregor .... 1888-91
10. Martin Murphy, D.Se.. e, 1891-93
11. Professor George Lawson ... ............... 1893-95
12. Edwin Gilpin, Jr., D.Se....... .............. 1895-97
13. Alexander McKay, M.A.. ... 1897-99
14. Alexander Howard MacKay, B. Sc LLD... . 1899-1902
15. Henry 8. Poole. . ... 1902-05
16. Francis William Wmtney Doane. . oL, 1905-07
17. Professor Ebenezer MacKay................ 1907-10
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Watson Lenley Bishop..................... 1910-12
Donald MacEachern Fergusson... ... ....... 1912-15
Professor David Fraser Harris. . ... ......... 1915-18
Professor H. L. Bronson .. .. .. .............. 1918-20
Professor John Cameron.. ... ............... 192022
Professor C. B. Nickerson. ... .............. 1922-24
Dr.S.G. Ritehie. . .............. ... ... 1924-26
Professor J. H. L. Johnstone . ... ... ... ...... 1926-28
Professor Douglas MaeIntosh ... ............ 1928-30
Professor E. Gordon Young .. .............. . 1930-32
Dr. Alexander Henry Leim................. 1932-34
Harry Piers .. e a5 v v s vw ] 93d=00
Professor G. H. Henderson e, 1936-38
Dr. H. 8. King .. v wmn e b memas f s - o 1938-40
Professor R. J. Bea.n ....................... 1940-42
Dr. Ernest Hess . . . 1942-44
Professor F. Ronald Hayes e, 1944446
Professor C. C. Coffin . . e ... 194648
Dr.C.B.Weld. . ............. ... .. 1948-50
Dr.A.E.Cameron........................ 1950-52
Professor W.J. Chute. .. .. ................. 1952-54
Dr.H.D.Smith.......................... 1954-56
Dr. J. G. Aldous .. acsies § s v oes v v ¢ 1950-H8
Dr. J. R. Dingle .. e .. 1958-60
Professor W J. Aretha.ld e aee ... 1960-62
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